$0 \times 7 \, w/opp$

- C	- IJ
FLL	PD
SID J.	HITE
CLERK SUPRE	1992 Me cour t
By Chief Deputy	1

CASE NO. 79,121

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

:

:

:

:

:

KEITH JOLLY,
Petitioner,
٧.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ABEL GOMEZ ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER FLORIDA BAR #832545

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state charged Keith Lamar Jolly (petitioner) with armed robbery and armed kidnapping. Record (R.) at 1. A Duval County jury found Jolly guilty of the lesser included offenses of petit theft and false imprisonment. R.25-6;Transcript (T.) at 197. Habitual offender sentencing

The state filed notice and asked the trial court sentence Jolly as an habitual violent felony offender for the false imprisonment conviction. **R.10;T.214.** The state introduced a **1987** conviction for armed robbery to prove Jolly qualified as an habitual violent felony offender. T.214;R.39-43. The defense argued against habitual violent sentencing, but did not contest the prior conviction. T.215. The trial court then found Jolly to be an habitual violent felony offender and, pursuant to the statute, sentenced him to 10 years imprisonment, with a **5** year minimum mandatory term. T.224;R.48.

Jolly appealed. Initially, the first district court of appeal affirmed in a **per** curiam decision without a supporting opinion. Subsequently, the district court granted Jolly's motion for certification. <u>Jolly v. State</u>, 16 FLW 3018 (Fla. 1st **DCA** Dec, 3, 1991). The district court certified as questions of great public importance, the two questions they certified to this court in <u>Tillman v. State</u>, **586** So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(see certified question on page 5). <u>Id</u>.

The following facts are relevant to part II of the argument.

-1-

The state's evidence

At trial, John Stevens established the following facts. Stevens was working **as** a taxi cab driver on the evening of May 25th **and** early morning hours of May **26**, 1990. T.25.

Between **9** and 10 p.m., Stevens was dispatched to room 174 of the Gator Lodge Motel. R.26. Stevens waited in the parking lot until Jolly and two women came out of room 174. R.26. The three got into the car, one woman sat in the front seat and the other sat in the back seat with Jolly. T.27. One of the women asked Stevens to take them to St. Augustine and Emerson. T.27. **A** Church's Fried Chicken restaurant **is** located there. **T.28.**

Once they arrived, Jolly paid the fare. The taxi cab was equipped with interior lights. **T.28.** Stevens was **able** to see Jolly when they exchanged money and when he handed Jolly his business card. T.29. Stevens testified that before this encounter, he had seen Jolly in his neighborhood. T.27.

Later, Stevens was dispatched again to the Gator Lodge Motel, room 174. T.30. The same three people again asked Stevens to drive them to St. Augustine and Emerson. T.30. However, this time one of the women paid the fare. T.30. Stevens was able to "get a look" at Jolly, who was wearing the same clothing. T.30-1.

Between 4:30 and 5:00 a.m., Stevens was dispatched to room 174 of the Gator Lodge Motel for the third time. T.31-2. This time Jolly was alone. T.32. Jolly sat in the front seat and directed Stevens to Callahan, a dead-end street about three to four blocks away from his earlier destination. T.32-3. While on

-2-

Callahan, Jolly drew a gun and pointed it **at** Stevens's face. **T.34.** Stevens could **see** the bullets inside the gun. **T.34. A** struggle ensued but as Stevens attempted to reach for the gun, he was restrained by his seat-belt. **T.34-5.** Jolly regained control of the situation and demanded Stevens's wallet. **T.35.** Stevens gave Jolly his billfold with **\$157 and** about **\$4 he** was carrying in his shirt pocket. **T.35.**

Jolly then instructed Stevens to get out of the car and into the trunk. T.35-6. Jolly locked **Stevens** inside the trunk. T.37. Stevens had a toolbox in the trunk. T.37. Using a wrench, Stevens was able to unfastened the trunk lid and free himself after about 20 minutes. T.38. Stevens immediately called for help. T.38.

Deputy Mark Doyle of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office arrived on the scene. T.68-9. After Doyle interviewed Stevens, he had other officers go to the motel room. Eventually, one of the women was brought back to the crime scene. T.73. Stevens identified her as one of the women he had picked up earlier that night. T.73,39. After Doyle completed his investigation, he turned over all the information to Detective L.H. Goff. T.75.

A day later, Goff showed Stevens a photospread of **six** black men, containing a picture of Jolly. **T.39,86-7.** Initially, Stevens **was** not able to positively identify Jolly. **T.87,40.** The photospread consisted of duplicates of photographs. **T.88.** In a different room with better lighting, Goff showed Stevens the original photograph, **T.41,88.** This time Stevens made **a** positive identification. **T.41**,89.

-3-

Goff interviewed Jolly on August 10, 1990. T.102. Jolly told Goff that he **did** not rob Stevens, although he admitted being with the women that evening and having gotten **a** ride from Stevens. T.105.

The introduction into evidence of Jolly's "mug shots"

At a bench conference during the direct examination of Goff, the defense attorney objected to the state introducing into evidence the photospread because "they are obviously muqshots, since they show the front and side." T.96. The trial court ruled that the photographs were not mugshots in that they contained no identifying marks such as "plaques in front of them, numbers and so forth". T.97. Nonetheless, the defense continued to argue that the photograph obviously indicated to the jury that Jolly had a record. T.97.

The defense also objected to the information contained on the back of the photographs. T.96. The photographs contained dates of birth, addresses and offenses. T.98-9. The trial court attempted to remedy the objection by marking off the information. T.98-9. The defense attorney responded: "[j]udge I appreciated that, but it would also show that obviously something was there." T.99. The trial judge then said: [w]ell, I'm going to do it this way, sir." T.99.

The photographs were subsequently introduced into evidence as state's composite exhibit #1. T.106, The photographs introduced were a copy of the original. T.110.

-4-

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS

1. DOES IT VIOLATE A DEFENDANT'S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN HE IS CLASSIFIED AS **A** VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.084, AND THEREBY SUBJECTED TO AN EXTENDED TERM OF IMPRISONMENT, IF HE **HAS** BEEN CONVICT-ED OF AN ENUMERATED FELONY WITHIN THE PREVI-OUS FIVE YEARS, EVEN THOUGH HIS PRESENT OFFENSE IS **A** NONVIOLENT FELONY?

2. **DOES** SECTION 775.084(1)(B) VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY BY INCREASING A DEFENDANT'S PUNISH-MENT DUE TO THE NATURE OF **A** PRIOR **OFFENSE**?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

Principles of statutory construction require that an offense for which the state seeks an enhanced punishment **as** a habitual violent felony offender must be an enumerated, violent felony. The title evinces a legislative intent to require that the instant felony be **a** violent crime, so that it comports with the term "habitual violent felony offender." The phrase, "The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced" should be construed together with the act's title to read "The [violent enumerated] felony. ..." This construction is consistent with the plain meaning of the word habitual, and achieves the evident legislative intent to punish habitual violent crime more severely. Additionally, this reading of the statute is required to avoid the constitutional defects explored below.

If the Court rejects this interpretation and reaches the two certified questions, both should be answered in the affirmative. Thus interpreted, the statute bears no substantial and reasonable relationship to its objective of punishing repetition of violent crime. It permits imposition of an enhanced sentence as a habitual violent felon upon one who has committed but **a** single violent felony. The fixation on the prior offense, for which an offender has already been punished, also renders the enhanced sentence a violation of constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy and ex post facto.

-6-

Although the district court has not certified the issue, in the interest of justice this court should exercise its discretion to review the trial court's error in admitting mug shots into evidence at Jolly's trial. The trial court erred reversibly in admitting into evidence six photographs, including one of Jolly. These photographs were mug shots given their front and profile nature and the prejudicial information they contained. The case law is clear that the admission of mug shots is error. The error here can not be considered harmless because the evidence of guilt was not overwhelming. The victim's testimony was contradicted, impeached and the jury rejected most of it. No evidence such as fingerprints, hair fibers or the gun, link Jolly to the crime. The jury was shown photographs containing highly prejudicial information and strongly suggesting that Jolly had a previous criminal record. Since Jolly **did** not take the stand or place his character in issue, this denied him a fair and impartial trial.

II.

ARGUMENT

I. THE HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER STATUTE MUST BE CONSTRUED TO REQUIRE THE INSTANT OFFENSE BE A VIOLENT AND ENUMERATED FELONY, OTHERWISE THE STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE DUE PROCESS, DOUBLE JEOPARDY AND EX POST FACTO PROVISIONS OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

In 1988, the legislature amended section 775.084, Florida Statutes and created a new classification: habitual violent felony offenders. Ch. 88-131, § 6, Laws of Fla. Section 775.084(1)(b) Florida Statutes (1989), now defines a habitual violent felony offender as one who has been convicted of any one of 11 violent felonies within the past five years, or has been released (also within the past five years) from a prison sentence served for one such felony, and then commits **a** new felony. Section 775.084(4)(b) provides enhanced penalties for those who qualify, including mandatory minimum terms.

The first district court of appeal has certified two questions, whether a sentencing scheme that permits enhancement of a sentence for a habitual violent felon violates constitutional **Due** Process and Double Jeopardy clauses when the instant offense (the offense for which the sentence is imposed) is nonviolent. Jolly addresses those questions below, however, this Court should first determine whether an alternative construction, one which avoids constitutional defects, is possible.

A, Statutory Construct on

The habitual violent felony statute suffers internal conflict. The statute's title invokes the term "habitual violent

-8-

felony offenders." The term is repeated in Section 775.084(1)(b). Webster's Third New International Dictionary, Unabridged (Merriam-Webster, Inc. 1986) gives **as** the first definition of "habitual": "of the nature of **a** habit : according to habit : established by or repeated by force of habit : customary." "Habit," in the meaning that is pertinent here, is defined as: "**a** settled tendency of behavior or normal manner of procedure : custom, practice, way." Hence, it is quite clear that "habitual" and "habit" have a meaning that implies that a behavior is repeated. Someone who smokes **a** cigarette once and never again, is not a habitual smoker. Similarly, using the normal meaning of the term, a "habitual violent felony offender" is not one who commits one violent crime, and no more. In the normal way the term "habitual" is used, an habitual violent felon is one who repeatedly commits violent felonies.

However, section 775.084(4)(b) defines a habitual violent felony offender as one who commits a felony within five years of **a** prior, enumerated violent felony. The statute may thus be construed as permitting habitual violent felon enhancement for an unenumerated, nonviolent instant offense, as it was here. That construction permits a habitual violent felony offender sentence for **a** single, prior crime of violence.

Courts have a duty to reconcile conflicts within a statute. <u>In Re Natl. Auto Underwriters Assoc.</u>, 184 \$0.2d 901 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966); <u>Vocelle v. Knight Bros. Paper Co.</u>, 118 \$0.2d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960). A court may resolve such conflict by considering the title of the act and legislative intent underlying it, and by

-9-

reading different sections of the **law** <u>in pari materia</u>, <u>See</u> <u>Parker v. State</u>, **406** \$0,2d 1089 (Fla. 1981) (legislative intent); <u>State v. Webb</u>, 398 \$0,2d **820** (Fla. 1981) (title of the act); <u>Speights v. State</u>, 414 \$0,2d 574 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (<u>in pari</u> materia).

Moreover, the statute must be construed in accord with the fundamental principle embodied in section 775.021(1), Fla. Stat. (1989):

The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

This Court has recently emphasized the importance of this rule of construction in <u>Perkins v. State</u>, 576 So,2d 1310 (Fla. 1991):

One of the most fundamental principles of Florida law is that penal statutes must be strictly construed according to their letter. Words and meanings beyond the literal language may not be entertained nor may vagueness become a reason for broadening a penal statute. [T]o the extent that definiteness is lacking, a statute must be construed in the manner most favorable to the accused. The state's reliance on common law rules of construction such as <u>ejusdem generis</u> must yield to the rule of strict construction.

<u>Id</u>. at 1313-1314,

Applying these principles, this Court should find that the instant offense must be a violent felony, as enumerated in section 775.084(4)(b)1, to subject the offender to habitual violent felony sentence enhancement. The statute is certainly susceptible of different constructions on this point. See

Canales v. State, 571 So.2d 87, 89 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (in dicta, court states that when requirement of prior violent felony is met, legislature intended offender be eligible for enhanced penalty "for a subsequent Florida violent felony.") The title evinces **a** legislative intent to require that the instant felony be a violent crime, so that it comports with the term "habitual violent felony offender." The phrase, "The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced" in section 775.084(1)(b)2, should be construed together with the act's title to read "The [violent enumerated] felony. . . . " This construction is consistent with the plain meaning of the word habitual, achieves the evident legislative intent to punish habitual violent crime more severely, and comports with the rule of lenity. Additionally, this reading of the statute is required to avoid the constitutional defects explored below. See Schultz v. State, 361 So.2d 416, 418 (Fla. 1978) (when reasonably possible, a statute should be construed so as to avoid conflict with the Constitution).

Adoption by the Court of this interpretation does not require reconsideration of the statute as a whole, or review of sentences imposed under the nonviolent provisions. Presumably, only a small portion of sentences imposed under the habitual violent felony offender provisions are for commission of nonviolent instant offenses. These provisions would remain fully viable, although available in more limited circumstances.

-11-

B. Constitutionality

1. Due Process

If a construction of the statute which does not require the instant offense to be an enumerated violent felony is approved, the habitual violent felony provisions fail the due process test of "a reasonable and substantial relationship to the objects sought to be obtained." See State v. Saiez, 489 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1986); State v. Barquet, 262 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1972). This defect goes to the first of the two certified questions, As noted above, the label "habitual violent felony offender" purports to enhance the punishment of those who habitually commit violent felonies. § 775.084(1)(b), Fla. This is the object the statute seeks to attain. Stat. However, as applied by the trial court, the statute does not require the instant offense to be an enumerated violent felony. Here, the state established only one prior violent felony armed robbery - plus the instant, offense of false imprisonment. On this record, there is no evidence of a habit of violent crime. The statute permits an even greater absurdity: A defendant may be convicted of attempted aggravated assault - a misdemeanor - in 1986, then be sentenced to 30 years with a 10-year mandatory minimum term in 1991 as a habitual violent offender for dealing in stolen property. Thus, despite its objective as expressed four times in the statute's use of the term "habitual violent felony offender," the only habit this construction of the statute punishes is

-12-

crime, not necessarily felonious crime and certainly not habitual violent felonious crime.

The first district court of appeal rejected **a** similar due process argument in Ross v. State, 579 So,2d 877 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), rev. pending, Fla. Sup. Ct. No. 78,179. The court held that, "{i]n our view, just as the state is justified in punishing a recidivist more severely than it punishes a first offender, its even more severe treatment of a recidivist who has exhibited a propensity toward violence is also reasonable." Id. at 878. Jolly has no quarrel with this proposition, except that the court's use of the word "propensity" does not reflect the showing required for habitual violent felon enhancement. Propensity connotes tendency or inclination. If the habitual violent provisions required that the state establish commission of two prior violent felonies, a propensity would be shown. However, a single, perhaps random act of violence does not fit within the common understanding of the word. By any objective measure, one violent offense does not'establish a propensity. Moreover, as noted above, the expressed legislative intent is to punish habitual violent conduct, not merely a loosely defined propensity. The failure of the contested provisions to reasonably and substantially relate to this purpose renders its application a violation of due process of law.

2. Double Jeopardy and ex post facto

The state and federal constitutions forbid twice placing a defendant in jeopardy for the same offense, U.S. Const., amend. V. Fla. Const., art. 1, § 9. This first district

-13-

court of appeal **has** noted that the violent felony provisions of the amended habitual offender statute implicate constitutional protections. <u>Henderson v. State</u>, **569** So.2d **925**, 927 (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1990). The fixation of the habitual violent felony provisions on prior offenses renders application of this statute to Jolly a violation of these constitutional protections. This goes to the second of the certified questions.

To punish a defendant as an habitual violent felony offender, the state need only show that he **has** one prior offense within the past five years for **a** violent felony enumerated within the statute. The instant offense need meet no criteria, other than that it be **a** felony committed within five years of commission, conviction or conclusion of punishment for the prior "violent" offense. Analysis of the construction of this statute and its potential uses leads to an inescapable conclusion: the enhanced punishment is not for the new offense, to which the statute pays little heed, but instead for the prior, violent felony. The exclusive focus on the prior offense renders use of the statute **a** second punishment for that offense, violating state and federal double jeopardy prohibitions.

When that prior offense also occurred before enactment of the amended habitual offender statute, as did Jolly's 1987 armed robbery conviction, the statute's use violates prohibitions against ex post facto laws. U.S. Const. Art. I, § 10, cl. 1; Fla. Const. art. I, § 10.

-14-

An ex post facto violation occurs when a statutory change applies to events occurring before its enactment, and disadvantages the offender affected by it. <u>Miller v. Florida</u>, **482** U.S. **423,430, 107 S.Ct. 2446, 96** L.Ed.2d **351** (1987). The amendment to the habitual offender statute applies in the instant case to Jolly's pre-amendment offense. Jolly is disadvantaged by it to the extent that he is deprived of the limitation of the statutory maximum for the instant offense, is deprived of eligibility for a guideline sentence, and is required to serve a mandatory minimum term. On its face, application of the amendment to Jolly **creates** an ex post facto violation.

Habitual offender and enhancement statutes have been upheld against challenges similar to the one made here, as long ago as **1948**, on the grounds that the enhanced sentence **was** based not on the prior offenses but on the offense pending for sentencing. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Gryger v. Burke</u>, **334** U.S. **728**, **68 S.Ct. 1256**, **92** L.Ed. **1683** (1948). In Gryger the Court stated:

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