Q4/1

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID I WHITE
FEB 6 1992
CLERK SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Crerk

KEITH JOLLY,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 79,121

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
EUREAU CHIEF
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

CHARLES T. FAIRCLOTH, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0878936

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

Besides being rejected by the First District in Ross, the same due process argument made by Petitioner was rejected by the First District in Perkins v. State, 583 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), rev. pending, Fla. S. Ct. Case No. 78,613. In Perkins, the First District stated:

Although the burglary for which [the defendant] is now sentenced is not one of the enumerated violent offenses, section 775.084(1)(b) does not require that the current offense be violent. The appellant argues that this application of the statute is not sufficiently related to the apparent purpose of the enactment, thereby offending

the requirements of due process. Habitual offender provisions are generally designed to allow an enhanced penalty when new crimes are committed by recidivist offenders. See e,g,, Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980). Section 775.084(1)(b) encompasses the general objective of providing additional protection to the public from certain repetitive felony offenders. When the statute is considered as a whole, section 775.084(1)(b) effectuates objective by providing additional protection from repetitive felony offenders who have previously committed a violent The decision to allow an enhanced offense. sentence after only two felonies, and when only the prior felony is an enumerated violent offense, is a permissible legislative determination which comports with and is rationally related to this statutory purpose, so as to satisfy the requirements of due process.

Id. at 1104.

Petitioner's next challenge to the statute is equally specious, as it is likewise based on a false premise. Petitioner claims that the habitual violent felony offender statute violates state and federal constitutional provisions against double jeopardy and ex post facto laws because "the enhanced punishment is not for the new offense, to which the statute pays little heed, but instead for the prior, violent felony." (IB 14). Acknowledging that the United States Supreme Court, this Court, and Florida district courts have rejected similar arguments for the past several decades, Petitioner nevertheless maintains his position, while relying on a concurring opinion from Judge Zehmer in the First District. Petitioner's reliance on an anomalous position, however, cannot resurrect an argument long-dead.

As this Court so aptly stated in <u>Cross v. State</u>, **96** Fla. 768, 119 So. **380** (Fla. 1928):

propriety of inflicting punishment upon old offenders has long been recognized in this Country and in England. They are not punished the second time for the earlier offense, but the repetition of criminal conduct aggravates their guilt and justifies heavier penalties when they are again convicted.' As was said in People v. Stanley, 47 Cal. 113, 17 Am. Rep. 401: 'The punishment for the second [offense] is increased, because by his persistence in the perpetration of crime he [the defendant] has evinced a depravity, which merits a greater punishment, and needs to be restrained by severer penalties than if it were his first offense. And as was said by Chief Justice Parker in Ross' Case, 2 Pick. (Mass.) 165: 'The punishment is for the last offense committed, and it is rendered more severe in consequence of the situation into which the party had previously brought himself.' statute does not make it an offense or crime for one to have been convicted more than The law simply prescribes a longer sentence for a second or subsequent offense for the reason that the prior convictions in connection with the subsequent taken offense demonstrates the incorrigible and dangerous character of accused thereby establishing the necessity for enhanced The imposition of such enhanced restraint. is not punishment a prosecution punishment for the former convictions. The Constitution forbids such action. enhanced punishment is an incident to the last offense alone. But for that offense it would not be imposed.

Id. at 386 (quoting Graham v. West Virginia, 224 U.S. 616 (1912)
(citation omitted)). See also Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621,
623 (Fla. 1956); Reynolds v. Cachran, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962);
Conley v. State, No. 90-1745, slip op. (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 2,
1992) (again rejecting the same argument raised by Petitioner).

As is evident from the cases cited above, "[recidivist] statutes are neither new to Florida nor to modern jurisprudence. Recidivist legislation . . . has repeatedly withstood attacks that it violates constitutional rights against ex post facto laws, constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, denies defendants equal protection of the law, violates due process or involves double jeopardy." Reynolds, 138 So.2d at 502-03. After a century or more, Petitioner's challenges are no more viable now than they were when recidivist statutes were first created. With no new added twist or dimension, Petitioner's arguments must fail. Accordingly, the certified questions must be answered in the negative.

## ISSUE II

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD IT EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION TO ADDRESS ISSUES WHICH WERE NOT CERTIFIED BY THE FIRST DISTRICT.

In its opinion below, the First District affirmed without comment Petitioner's conviction for petit theft and imprisonment. On Petitioner's subsequent motion for certification, the court certified the same questions a5 in Tillman v. State, 586 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991): it violate a defendant's substantive rights when he is classified as a violent habitual felony offender pursuant to section 775.084, thereby subjected to extended and an term imprisonment, if he has been convicted of an enumerated violent felony within the previous five years, even though his present offense is а nonviolent felony? (2) and Does section 775.084(1)(b) violate the constitutional protection against double jeopardy by increasing a defendant's punishment due to the nature of a prior offense?

Instead of addressing the issues as framed by the First District for this Court in <u>Tillman</u>, supra, Petitioner has filed a 27 page merits brief, addressing one of the certified questions in section B of the first issue. Section A of Petitioner's first issue and the entirety of his second issue, however, are devoted to issues argued before the First District -- the construction of the habitual violent felony offender statute and the admission of "mug shots" into evidence at trial -- but not certified to this Court. Respondent will address the construction of the statute

and Petitioner's second "mug shot" issue, but neither of the issues are properly brought before this Court. This Court should follow its own precedent and decline to address these issues because they "lie[] beyond the scope of the certified question[s]." Stephens v. State, 572 So.2d 387 (Fla. 1991).

While Respondent is asking this Court to not exercise its jurisdiction and address the merits of these issues, it would be helpful to practitioners before this Court if it would address the issue of petitioners raising issues and arguments not included in certified questions when those questions are the basis for this Court's jurisdiction over a Respondent contends that this Court should hold that case. it will not address issues outside of certified questions jurisdiction on that basis. when it has This will positively affect the administration of justice in Florida's appellate courts. Alternatively, the Court should permit Appellee/Respondents to decline to respond unless directed to do so by this Court.

Such a rule would reduce the workload of this Court by eliminating unnecessary argument on issues previously found meritless by a district court. It would also assist practitioners before this Court by allowing them to concentrate solely on the certified issues instead of filing extensive arguments for no purpose. The result would be a streamlining of the appellate process in Florida with no prejudice to either party and, hopefully, an increase in the quality of the arguments made before this Court.

However, if this Court chooses to reach the merit of this issue, respondent submits the following argument. ruling admitting or excluding evidence will not be reversed unless the trial court abused its discretion. Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); Jent v. State, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), cert. den., 73 L.Ed.2d 1322 (1982); State v. Wright, 473 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), rev. den., 484 So.2d 10 (Fla. **1986).** An abuse of discretion is an arbitrary or fanciful action taken by the trial court that no reasonable person could adopt. <u>Canakaris v. Canakasis</u>, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980). The trial court in the present case did not abuse its discretion when it admitted the photographs into evidence. This Court should affirm the admission of the photographs as well as the conviction below.

Petitioner in this appeal points out various features of the back of the photos: the preprinted labels, date notations, and notations of crimes (IB 19-20). However, Jolly focuses on what was on the back of photos other than his. The persons in the other photos were not on trial. On the back of Jolly's photo was a pre-printed label containing information on his birthdate, race, sex, height, weight, address, the date of the photo, the victim's signature, and an illegible, scratched-through notation. SCE 1. Such innocuous information could not have prejudiced Jolly in any manner. Such photographs are used for other purposes and Petitioner has not overcame the presumption of correctness.

Petitioner first cites <u>D'Anna v. State</u>, 453 So.2d **151** (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), for the proposition that the admission into evidence, or even the mere mention of mug shots constitutes error (IB 21). But Petitioner does not set out the rest of the First District's opinion:

However, it is likewise clear that the introduction per se of "mug shots" into evidence is not reversible error. Rather, the reviewing court must examine "the entire record surrounding circumstances," to determine whether the error must be considered harmless. Among the factors to be considered are the extent of other clear, unequivocal evidence of identification of the defendant whether in court, photographs were "cropped" so as to hide the identity of the photographing agency, whether a curative instruction was given, and the extent to which the photographs or reference to them at trial refer to a defendant's past criminal record.

Id., 453 So.2d at 152; see Loftin v. State, 273 So.2d 70
(Fla. 1973).

Applying the above standard to the entire record and surrounding circumstances, this Court will plainly see that the admission of the photos, if error, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The first factor to be considered is the extent of other clear, unequivocal identification of Jolly rendered in court. The victim in the present case, a cabdriver named John Stevens, made exactly that identification in court.

Mr. Stevens testified that he picked up Jolly in his cab three times in one night, twice with two female companions, and that during the third ride Jolly robbed him at gun point (T 26, 30-35). Mr. Stevens first identified Jolly in court (T 27). Mr. Stevens testified that he had seen Jolly before he picked him up in his cab, in and around the area where Stevens lived (T 27). Mr. Stevens further testified that he looked at Jolly while making change for him when Jolly paid for the first cab ride (T 29). Stevens testified that he picked up Jolly the second time and got another look at Jolly who was wearing the same clothes (T 30-31).

The third time Mr. Stevens picked **up** Jolly, Jolly was by himself (T 32). Jolly sat in the front of the cab, right beside Stevens, and was wearing the same clothes (T 32). Mr. Stevens and Jolly were talking during the third ride (T 33). During the third ride Jolly pulled out a revolver, pointed it directly into Mr. Stevens **face** and robbed him of his wallet and money (T 34-35). Jolly then locked Mr. Stevens in the trunk **of** his cab (T 36-37). Mr. Stevens finally managed to unbolt the trunk lid and escape (TT 37-38), after which he called the police (T 38).

On redirect examination, Mr. Stevens testified that he knew Jolly, knew Jolly's father, and knew Jolly's people. Stevens stated that he and Jolly's family all lived in the same area and that he spoke to Jolly's father. (T64).

Respondent submits that a more unequivocal identification of a criminal offender would be hard to find. Besides identifying Jolly in court, Mr. Stevens had seen Jolly before the night Jolly robbed him, knew him, knew his family, lived in the same area as Jolly, and saw Jolly three times the night Jolly robbed him. The third time, the time Jolly pulled out his pistol, Jolly was sitting directly beside Mr. Stevens and talking with him.

AS Petitioner admits, Mr. Stevens' in-court identification of him was unequivocal (IB 22). further contention that Stevens' testimony was impeached and inconsistent is of no consequence; the points Stevens was challenged on had nothing at all to do with identification of Jolly as the man who robbed him. Further, Jolly's contention that the jury rejected most of Stevens' testimony is simply wrong. The jury found Jolly quilty of petit theft and false imprisonment, of which neither verdict Stevens' identification of rejected Mr. Jolly. The introduction of the photos was thus harmless, See, Fuster v. State, 480 So.2d 173 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985).

The second <u>D'Anna</u> factor to be considered is whether the photographs were cropped to 'hide the identity of the photographing agency. <u>D'Anna</u>, <u>supra</u>, 453 \$0.2d at 152. Not a single one of the six photos, including Jolly's, had any indication at all of the photographing agency. (SCE 1, T 97). Thus the error is again shown to be harmless. <u>Id.</u>; see Houston v. State, 360 \$0.2d 468 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978).

factor is whether a curative The third D'Anna instruction was given. D'Anna, Supra, at 152. Jolly's counsel never requested a curative instruction on the Even when Mr. Stevens referred to the photos as photos. shots," Jolly's counsel merely objected reference of mugshots and photographs.'' (T 41). Jolly's failure to request a curative instruction concerning the photos waived the issue of whether the court not giving one See, Barnes v. State, 562 So.2d 729 (Fla. 3rd was error. DCA 1990) (instruction on evidentiary issue). Thus the lack of a curative instruction does not show any error on the court's part in admitting the photographs.

The final <u>D'Anna</u> factor to be considered is the extent to which the photographs or reference to them at trial refer to a defendant's past criminal record. <u>D'Anna</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 152. Neither Jolly's photograph itself or the reference to it at trial referred to his past criminal record in any manner. The photo itself merely was two views of Jolly, with either innocuous or illegible information on the back. Mr. Stevens' calling the photo a "mug shot" did not refer to Jolly's criminal history, but to the type of photograph; the two views, full face and profile.

The Third District had this to say on the topic of a witness referring to mug shots:

The words "mug shot," used by the witness in describing how she identified appellant, on this record,

did not injuriously affect the substantial rights of the defendant and was therefore, at most, harmless error. A reference to a mug shot in police files does not necessarily convey to a jury that a defendant has committed prior crimes or has previously been in trouble with the police. Under these circumstances, including eyewitness identifications, a jury instruction, if requested and given, would have cured the error. Affirmed.

Evans v. State, 422 So.2d 60 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982) (citations omitted); see, Laftin, supra.

The reference to and admission of the photographs in the present case likewise did not injuriously affect Petitioner's substantive rights or the jury in the face of Mr. Stevens' unequivocal identification, and thus was at most harmless error. See, State v. Diguilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). This Court should affirm the admission of the photographs and the conviction below.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, respondent requests this Honorable Court affirm the constitutionality of **the** habitual violent felony offender statute, §775.084, Fla. Stat. (1989), by answering the certified questions in the negative.

For the same reason, Respondent requests this Honorable Court refuse to address the issues Petitioner raises that were not certified by the First District Court of Appeal, should this Honorable Court choose to reach the issue of the admission of "mug shots" at trial, it should affirm the admission as harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.